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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

IRFAN AZAN -KHAN,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:18¢v-1393(VAB)

WILLIAM BARR, etal.,
Defendans.

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS
Irfan AzanKhan (“Plaintiff”) filed apetitionfor reviewunder 8 U.S.C. § 1421(c), the
ImmigrationandNaturalizationAct (“INA”) §310(c),andseekghis Court’sde novareview of
U.S. CitizenshipandimmigrationServices (“USCIS”) denialof hisnaturalizatiorapplication
aswell as gplenaryhearing on hisaturalizatiorapplication.Complaint, ECFNo. 1 at T 1(Aug.
16, 2018)He alsoallegesviolations of therifth Amendment’s Due l®ces<Llause the
DeclaratoryJudgmen#ct, 28 U.S.C. § 220landthe AdministrativeProceduregct, 5 U.S.C. 8

701letseq ld.

William Barr, U.S. AttorneyGeneral Kevin K. McAleenan,Secretay of the Department
of HomelandSecurity,andNievesCardinale Hartford Field Office Director of USCIS

(collectively,“Defendants”) have movedo dismissMr. Khan’s Complaint.

For thefollowing reasonsthemotionto dismissis GRANTED IN PART andDENIED

IN PART.

Mr. AzanKhan’sclaimsunder tha-ifth Amendmentindthe AdministrativeProcedures
Act aredismissedHis claimfor de novareviewunder 8 U.S.C. § 1421 (anhdfor relief under

the DeclaratoryJudgmenfct will proceed.
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FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. Factual Allegations!

In May 1993,Mr. Khan, a native oPakistangnteredheUnited StatesCompl.{ 33.0n
November 6, 2006yir. Khanreceivedhis permanentesidentstatusn the United Statedby grant

of asylumandwasclassifiedasAS6. Id. § 34.

On August 15, 2011USCISreceivedMr. Khan’'sForm N-400Applicationfor

Naturalizationld. § 35.

OnDecembef8, 2011 Mr. Khanappearedor hisfirst naturalizatiorapplication
interview, id. § 36,andallegally “succesfully metall of theproceduralrequirementand

standardg$or Naturalization— knowledge ofJ.S. Civics, Englishlanguageetc.” Id. § 37.

OnMarch24, 2015Mr. Khanappearedor his secondnterview,whereheallegedlywas
guestionedxtensivelyon theasylumclaim grantedoy the ImmigrationCourt.ld. § 39.Mr.

Khanalsowasallegedlyquestioned about his adjustmenstd#tusto permanentesidentld. § 40

(p. 7).

OnAugust 12, 20168J)SCISdeniedMr. Khan’snaturalizatiorapplicationid. § 41(p. 7),

andMr. Khantimely filed a N-336requesfor ahearingonthis decisionld.  42(p. 7).
OnMay 30, 2018the USCISdeniedthis requesbecause

Your work with the [Muttahidda Qaumi Moveméitver a period oét leastix
years and your active membership with the MQM since 1987 - which, to date, you

L All factual allegations are drawn from the Complaint. ComplFE&®. 1 (Aug. 16, 2018).
2Mr. Khan’s @mplaint has repeating numbers for some of the paragraphs, so to avosiaarthe Court refers to
these based on the page number as well.



have yet to terminateput you in a position to know, or reasonatayhave

known, that the organization was involved in terrorist activity. As a result

of this activity, under INA Section 212(a)(3)(B)(i)(l) you were inadmissible to the
United Statest the time you were granted adjustment of status to that of a
permanent resident on November 6, 2006. . . .

A full review of your immigration history including your testimorgtating

to your membership in MOM showed no clear and convincing evidence that you
did not know, and should not reasonably have known, that the organizatian was
terrorist organization id. 8 1182(a)(3)(B)(iv)(VI)(dd). . . .

The finding that you have not been lawfully admitted is also based dacthe

that, prior to your adjustment, you did not apply for, and thus were not granted,
the requisite 602 waiver pursuant to INA 212(a)(6)(c)(i), for the fraardl

misrepresentation you committed when you gained entry into the | Btées on
May 23, 1993 by presenting a fake visa and a fraudulent passport.

Id. 117 43-43Qp. 7-8).

Mr. Khanallegally hasexhausteall administrativeeemediesandtherefae seeks'a
determinatiorby [this] Courtthathemeetstherequirements$or naturalizatiorandis to be

naturalizedasa United State<Citizen without furtherdelay.”1d.  45(p. 9).

B. Procedural History

On August 16, 2018Mr. Khanfiled this petitionfor de rovoreviewof USCIS’sdenial
of hisnaturalizatiorapplicationandseeksa plenaryhearingon hisnaturalizatiorapplication.
Compl. § 1He namedhe DefendantasU.S. AttorneyGeneralleffersorBeauregard&essions
l11,%id. T 6,Secretaryof HomelandSecurityKirstien M. Nielsen,id. § 7, andDirector of the

Hartford Field Office of USCISNievesCardinalejd. 8.

Mr. Khanallegesthat under 8 U.S.C. § 1421(d)SCISwrongfully denied him

3 Becausall defendants were sued in their official capacity only, William Barrlistuted in as the new U.S.
Attorney GeneralLikewise, because Kirstjen M.i&lsen is no longer Secretary of the Department of Homeland
Security,Kevin K. McAleenaris substitutd as a defendant in her place.
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naturalizatiorandwrongfully re-consideed his 2006grantof asylum.ld. { 45A(p. 8). Mr. Khan
allegeshaving“neverconcealedis involvementn the internationatharitablearmand
organization of Muttahidd®aumiMovement(MQM),* whichis anactiveandrecognized

political partyin Pakistan.ld.  45B(p. 9).

FurthermoreMr. Khanallegesthat“[m]embershipin andpersecution on account of
MQM hasbeenrecognizedasgrounddor beinggrantedpolitical asylum” id. { 45C,andthathis
initial grantof asylumwasbasedupon hismembershipn MQM, id. § 45D.As aresult,Mr.
Khanalleges'it wasimproperfor USCISto subsequentlgetermineghatsuchmembership
precludedhis naturalizatiorbecausét is nowconsidereda ‘Tier I’ terroristorganization,’and
thatdoingso“impermissiblyre-determingd] his grantof Asylum.”Id. §45D. Additionally, Mr.
Khanallegeshisentryinto theUnited Statesdid notrequirea Form1-602 waiver.Id. I 45D

(citing Wu Zheng Huarv. INS 436F. 3d 89, 100 (2cCir. 2006)).

Mr. Khannextclaimsthataspecific question on theorm N-400is “void for vagueness
under theDue Proces<lauseof theFifth Amendment.d. § 49.Mr. Khanargueghatan
“ordinary personwould not understand the N-400 question on memberahigassociationghat
actingas[the] U.S. basedcharitablearm of arecognizedandlegitimatedforeignpolitical party
with noactivestatemenbr history ofterrorismwould beconsideredo be providingmaterial

supportto aterroristorganization.ld. { 50.

Mr. Khanalsoseeksadeclaratiorunder 28 U.S.C. § 22a0hatDefendantsactionsare

“unconstitutionalyiolate the[ImmigrationsandNaturalizationAct], andarearbitraryand

41n their supporting memorandum, the Government notes that its éasatflect that Plaintiff admitted to
membership in the Mohajir/Muhajir Quami Movement,” but for the purpokggsomotion, the Government will
use MQM.SeeMemorandum of Law in Support of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, ECF Nd4. &12n.1 (Mar. 14,
2019).
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capricious.”ld. § 52.Mr. KhanargueghatDefendantwiolatedthe INA by improperly
corcludinghe madeafalsestatemenandthuslackedthe “goodmoral character’requiredfor
naturalizationld. § 53.Mr. Khanallegeshe spoke truthfully oall mattersjd. { 55,anddoes not
believehimselfassociatedavith aterroristorganizationld. § 56.Furthemore Mr. Khanasserts

Defendantsactionsviolatedthe AdministrativeProcedureé\ct, 5 U.S.C. 8/06(2)(A).

Mr. Khanasksthis Courtto assumeurisdiction, order gplenaryhearing,reviewde novo
his naturalizatiorapplication granthim natualization,awardreasonableostsandattorneys’

feesunder theCivil JusticeAct, andgrantanyotherrelief the Courdeemgust. Compl.at 12.

On March 14, 2019 Defendantsnovedto dismissthis case Motion to Dismiss,ECF No.
21 (Mar. 14, 2019); Memorandum afw in Support ofDefendantsMotion to Dismiss,ECF
No. 21-1(Mar. 14, 2019)“Gov’'t Mem.”). Theyarguethat: (1) Mr. Khan’s Complaint should be
dismissedunder Rule 12(b)(6pr failure to stateaclaim; (2) Mr. Khan’sdueprocesslaims
should bedismisseecausehe voidfor-vagueness doctrine does not applyhis context;and
(3) Mr. Khan’sAdministrativeProcedureg\ct andDeclardory JudgmenAct claimsshould be

dismissedunder Rule 12(b)(1fpr lack of subjectmatterjurisdiction. Seeid.

OnMay 4, 2019 Mr. Khantimely filed a memorandurm oppositionto Defendants’

motionto dismiss.First Memorandumn Opposition ECFNo. 23 (May 4, 2019)“Pl.’s Opp.”).

OnJune 13, 201Pefendantsimely filed areplyto Mr. Khan’s responsdreply
Memorandumn Further Support dbefendantsMotion to Dismiss,ECFNo. 27 (June 13,

2019)(“Gov't Reply”).

OnOctober22, 2019the Courtheld ahearingon the motion. Minut&ntry, ECFNo. 32

(Oct. 22, 2019).



. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Rule12 (b)(1)

In every case, a court must determine whether it has subject matter junisdictio
evaluating a motion under Rule 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction otlmé ‘Ghust
accept as true all materi@ctual allegations in the complaint but need not draw inferences
favorable to the party asserting jurisdictio8Hipping Fin. Servs. Corp. v. DrakdstO F.3d 129,
131 (2d Cir. 1998). The plaintiff bears the burden of showing that subject matter jiorsdict
proper based on facts existing at tinee he or she filed the complai@celsav. City Univ. of
New York76 F.3d 37, 40 (2d Cir. 1996) (citations omitted).

B. Rule 12(b)(6)

A complaint mustontaina “shortandplain statemenof theclaim showingthatthe
pleadeiis entitledto relief.” Fed.R. Civ. P.8(a).Any claim thatfails “to stateaclaim upon
whichrelief canbe granted’will bedismissedFed.R. Civ. P.12(b)(6).In reviewinga
complaint under Rul&2(b)(6),a courtappliesa“plausibility standard’guidedby “two working
principles.” Ashcroftv. Igbal, 556U.S.662, 678 (2009).

First, “[tlhreadbarerecitalsof theelementof acauseof action,supportedy mere
conclusorystatementsjo notsuffice.” Id.; seealsoBell Atl. Corp.v. Twombly 550U.S.544,
555 (2007 “*While acomplaintattackedy aRule 12(b)(6)motionto dismissdoes nonheed
detailedfactualallegations . . aplaintiff's obligationto provide the ‘grounds’ of his
‘entitle[ment]to relief’ requiresmorethanlabelsandconclusionsandaformulaicrecitationof
the elementsof acauseof actionwill not do.”(internalcitationsomitted)).Second, “only a
complaintthatstatesa plausibleclaim for relief survives anotionto dismiss.”Igbal, 556U.S. at

679. Thus, the complaint mustntain“factual amplification. . .to renderaclaim plausible.”



AristaRecordd LCv. Doe 3, 604 F.3d 110, 120 (2dir. 2010) (quotingrurkmenv. Ashcroft
589 F.3d 542, 54(2d Cir. 2009)).

When reviewing a complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), the court
takes all factual allegations in the complaint as tigieal, 556 U.S. at 67.8The court also views
the allegations in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and draws all inferenttes
plaintiff's favor. Cohen v. S.A.C. Trading Cor@.11 F.3d 353, 359 (2d Cir. 2013ge also York
v. Ass’n of the Bar of the City New York286 F.3d 122, 125 (2d Cir.) (“On a motion to dismiss
for failure to state a claim, we construe the complaint in the light most favorabgeptaihtiff,
accepting the complaint’s allegations as trueé)t. denied537 U.S. 1089 (2002).

A cout considering anotionto dismissunder Rulel2(b)(6)generallylimits its review
“to thefactsasassertedvithin the fourcornersof thecomplaint,the documentattachedo the
complaintasexhibits,andany documentsncorporatedn the complainby reference."McCarthy
v. Dun & BradstreetCorp, 482 F.3d 184, 19(@d Cir. 2007). A courtmayalsoconsider
“mattersof which judicial noticemaybetaken”and“documentsitherin plaintiffs’ possession
or of which plaintiffs hadknowledgeandrelied onin bringing suit.”"Brassv. Am.Film Techs.,

Inc., 987 F.2d 142, 150 (2dir. 1993);Patrowiczv. TransamericaHomeFirst,Inc., 359F. Supp.
2d 140, 144D. Conn. 2005).

1. DISCUSSION

A. De Novo Review Under 8 8 U.S.C. 1421(c)

“The AttorneyGeneralbf the United Stateshasthe ‘sole authorityto naturalizepersons
ascitizensof theUnited States” Escalerv. USCIS 582 F.3d 288, 292 (2dir. 2009)(citing 8
U.S.C. § 1421(a))}ederalcourtsgenerallylack “the poweito makesomeone aitizen of the

United States’ seel.N.S.v. Pangilinan 486U.S.875, 883-4 (1988), bdéderalcourtsmust
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“enforcethelegislativewill” whenanauthorizingstatutesoprescribesld. at 884 (citing U.S.v.
Ginsberg 243U.S.472, 474 (1917)):Onceit hasbeendeterminedhat apersondoes not
qualify for citizenship,. . . thedistrict courthasno discretionto ignore thedefectandgrant
citizenship.”Fedorenkov. U.S, 449U.S.490, 517 (1981{citationomitted).But “thereare
statutorystardards governingaturalizationandnaturalizatiordecisionsy [US]CIS. . .are

subjectto judicial review.” Escalef 582 F.3cat 290.

Whena person’s applicatioior naturalizationis deniedafterahearingbeforean
immigrationofficer, thatindividual mayseekde novojudicial reviewof thedenialbefore a
district court.See8 U.S.C.§ 1421(c) An individual musfirst exhaustll administrative
remediesEscaler 582F.3dat 292(citing 8 1421(c)) “The courtis empoweredo conduct ale
novoreview, making‘its own findings offactandconclusions ofaw,” andmay conduct a
hearingdenova” Id. at 291;seealso Charv. Gantner 464 F.3d 289, 291 (2dir. 2002)
(citationomitted)(“Judicial review of naturalizatiordenials. . .is notlimited to any
administrativeecordbutrathermaybe[based]onfactsestablishedn andfoundby thedistrict

court.”).

Specifically,Section1421(c) provides:

A person whoseapplicationfor naturalizationunderthis subchapteis denied,
afterahearirg beforeanimmigrationofficer undersection1447(a)of this Title,
may seekreview of suchdenialbefore theJnited Statedlistrict courtfor the
districtin which suchpersorresidesn accordancevith chapter7 oftitle 5. Such
reviewshallbede novo,andthe courtshallmakeits own findings offact and



conclusions ofaw andshall,at therequesbf the petitioner,conduct éhearingde
novo on the application.

8 U.S.C. § 1421(c).

This de novareview, howeverdoesnot requiré’‘benchtrials evenwhen thereareno
disputedssuesof materialfact.” Chan 464 F.3cat 296. As aresult,if thereareno genuine
issuesof materialfact, this reviewcanoccurandberesolvedat thesummaryjudgmentstage. Id.
(“We thereforeconcludethat no statute'set[q forth’ analternativepracticefor review of
citizenshipdenialssuchthat Rule 56is inapplicablein those proceedings.”ndeed,in Chan
“[blecausetherewasno genuinessueof materialfact, theDistrict Courtproperlyentered

summaryjudgmento dispose of thease.”ld.

Defendantshowever, have nataiteduntil thecloseof discoveryandthesummary
judgmentstageto seekdismissahere butinsteadseekto dosoon amotionto dismiss.
DefendantarguethatUSCISdeterminedhatMQM is aTier lll organizationwhichis an
undesignatedrganizatiorthatdirectly engagesn terroristactivity or indirectly supportderrorist
activity by providingfunds andotherforms of materialsupporto theterroristorganizationld.
at17(citing 8 U.S.C. 81182(a)(3)(B)(iv));seealsoEx. A: Notice of Intentto Deny (“NOID”),
ECFNo. 21-3at 16 (Mar. 14, 2019) (describingIQM’s “numerous violenactivities” in
Pakistanduring the 1990sPefendantalsonotethatMr. Khanhasadmittedto providing
materialsupporto MQM and“acting asthe U.S. basedcharitablearm” of MQM. Gov’'t Mem. at

18 (citing Compl. 1 50)As aresult,DefendantarguethatMr. Khandoes notlenythefact that



membershipnakeshim inadmissibleasapermanentesidentandthus cannot beaturalizedasa

U.S.citizen Gov't Mem. at21.

Alternatively, Defendantarguethat neitherUSCIS’sprevious grant odsylumnor
adjustment oMr. Khan’s gatusto lawful permanentesidentbind the Courto concludethatMr.
Khanwaslawfully admittedfor the purposes ofaturalizationld. at 20-21. Instead, thegrgue
that,basedon therecordnow beforat, the Courtcanmakeits own findings offactand
conclusions ofaw, consistentith de novareviewunder § 1421(canddeterminethatMr.

Khanis ineligible for citizenship.ld.

In responseMr. Khanargueghat“de novareview of an N-400/N-336 denial cannot be
barredby deferenceo findings ofinadmissibility whensuchfindingsnecessarilyorm thebasis
of the denial.’Pl.’s Opp.at 5. Mr. Khannotesthatthe Court cannadeferto theagency’sprior
findings under 8 U.S.C. § 1421(endthatMr. Khanhassufficiently andplausiblyallegedin
his Complaint thdasisfor the N-336denial,whichwashis allegedlack of lawful admissionlid.
at6. Mr. KhanalsoargueghatDefendantsareestoppedrom rescinding hisawful permanent
residentstatusbecausenorethanfive yearshavepassedince theoriginal grantin 2006.Id. at

13 (citing 8 U.S.C. § 12560

Ultimately, the Couriagreeswith Mr. Khan,atleastwith respecto whether the Court
caneffectivelyfulfill its statutoryobligation undeSection1421(c)to conduct ale novareview
of Mr. Khan’sdeniednaturalizatiorapplicationandadecisionbasedonits own findings offact
andconclusions ofaw atthis stageof thecase See Chaj464 F.3dat 291 (recognizingjnter
alia, thatthedistrict courtin its de novareviewdoesnotdeferto theadministrativeagency’s

findingsandconclusion@andmaymakeits own). While thefactualallegationsn Mr. Khan'’s
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Complaintareprobativefor purposes of denovoreview,waiting until thecloseof discovery
andafull andfair opportunityto raiseandaddress Rule 5@notionfor summaryudgmentwill
betterposition the Courtio rendera decisionparticularlyif, upon afuller record,“thereareno
disputedssuesof materialfact.” 1d. at 296;seealso Raynoldss. Napolitang No. 3:11cv-205,
2013WL 2149702at*3 (D. Conn.May 16, 2013) (finding osummaryjudgmenthatplaintiff
did notmeet8 U.S.C. § 1427(a)’'sesidencyrequirementsor naturalizationthusdenyingher §
1421¢) claim); McElhanew. USCIS No. 3:09¢v-1474, 2010NVL 4365819at*5 (D. Conn.
Oct. 20, 2010 same)Gildernewv. Quarantillo, No. 5-civ-10851, 2008VL 4938289at *6
(S.D.N.Y.Oct. 29, 2008)grantingdefendants’ crossrotionfor summaryjudgment of
plaintiff's 1421(c)claimwhenthe onlyevidencehatsupporteglaintiff's claimwascounsel's
affidavit); Goldingv. Dept of HomelandSec, No. 5-cv-21095, 2009VL 2222779at*1 (S.D.
Fla. July 27, 2009) (addressimig novoreviewunder § 1421 through aenchtrial and

receivingboth“documentaryandtestimonialevidence”)®

As aresult,the Courtwill not resolveMr. Khan’spetitionfor de novareviewunder

Sectionl421(c)atthis stageof thecase.

Accordingly,Mr. Khan’spetitionfor de novareviewunder 8 U.S.C. § 1421 (wjill not

bedismissedt thistime.
A. TheFifth Amendment Due Process Claim

“It is abasicprinciple of dueprocesghatanenactments void for vagueness its

prohibitionsarenotclearlydefined” Graynedv. City of Rockford 408U.S.104, 108 (1972).

5 Significantly, at this stage of the case and as required by § 1421(c), &r.hHals demonstrated that he has
exhausted all administrative remedies, and has pleaded facts that arensyffitéeisible to demonstrate that he
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Thevoid-for-vaguenessloctrine“chiefly applie[s]to criminallegislation,” Arriaga v. Mukasey
521 F.3d, 219, 22@2d Cir. 2008),and“requiresthata penalstaute definethecriminal offense
with sufficientdefinitenesshatordinary people€anunderstandvhat conducts prohibitedand
in amannerthatdoes not encouragebitraryanddiscriminatoryenforcement Kolenderv.
Lawson 461U.S.352,357(1983).“L awswith civil consequence®quirelessexacting

vaguenesscrutiny. Arriaga, 521 F.3dat 223.

Mr. Khanchallenges question on the N-4Gtaturalizatiorapplicationasviolating the
Fifth Amendments Due Proces<lause SeeCompl.{149, 50 (eferencinghe question on

association$o charitableorganizationso which anapplicantgavemoney).

DefendantarguethatMr. Khan’schallengego a question on aaturalizatiorform should
bedismissedor failure to stateaclaim. Gov't Mem. at 22-23.Theyasserthatthe question
posed on the N-40@rm requestsnformationon anapplicant’spastconductandthathadMr.
Khanbeenconfusedy the question’sneaninghe could haveaskedfor clarificationfrom either
the questioningfficer or hisattarneywho waspresentld. at 22. DefendantsotethatMr. Khan

askedandreceivedclarification on another questioid.

FurthermorePefendant@arguethatthe questiomtissuerelatesto Mr. Khan’s
admissibility,“to which the voidfor-vaguenessoctrine does not applyld.; seeBoutilier v.
INS 387U.S.118, 123 (1967(*The constitutionarequiremenbf fair warning has no
applicabilityto standards . .for admissiorof aliensto the United States.”).Theydistinguishthe
two casegitedby Mr. Khanin hisComplaint.Gov’'t Mem. at 22.In Graynedv. City of

Rockford 408U.S.104 (1972), the individualhallengedhe constitutionalityof two ordinances

was “lawfully admitted” to the U.SSeeCompl. { 12 (alleging that he is “a lawful permanent resident of the United
States having obtained his residency by grant of Asylum onrNioee6, 2006, in the AS6 category”).
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thatwerethebasisof hiscriminal conviction;andFoti v. City of MenloPark, 146 F.3d 6299th
Cir. 1998) involved ahallengeo anotherity ordinance Gov't Mem. at22-23. Unlike those
casesPefendantemphasiz¢hat Mr. Khandoes nothallengea punishment or a prohibition on
conduct, but a questian aform. Id. at 23. Accordingly, Defendants&rgue his Fifth

Amendmentlaim should balismissed.

In responseMr. Khancitesto Jordanv. De George 341U.S.223 (1951)whichwas
also referencedn Arriaga, 521 F.3dat 223,as“reviewing [a] deportation provisiofor
vaguenesbecaus®f the‘grave nature’of thepenaltyof forfeiting one’sresidence.Pl.’s Opp.
at22-23.Mr. Khanalsoargueghat regardles®f whetherhe could haveequested clarification
about thdorm requiresafactualfinding, sothe Court should not nodismissthis claim atthis

stageof thecaseld. at 23.

Defendantseply thatthe “voidfor-vaguenessoctrineappliesto statutesarryingcivil
or criminal penalties,andPlaintiff hascited no authority applying the doctritie invalidate
guestions oformsasheseekdo dohere.”Gov’t Replyat 7. TheydistinguishJordan wherethe
Supreme Courddressetwhetherconspiracyto defraudthe United Statesof taxeson distilled
spiritsis a‘crime involving moral turpitude’within themeaningof [section]19(a) of the
ImmigrationAct of 19177 1d. (quotingJordan341U.S.at 223-24).In their view, the Supreme

Courtthereagainaddressed statute not a question onfarm. Id. Defendantshereforeargue
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thatMr. Khan’s “constitutionathallengeto a question on maturalizatiorform cannotsucceed

asamatterof law andshould be dismissedld. at 8.

The Courtagrees.

Although the voidfor-vaguenessloctrineappliesto statuteswith civil aswell ascriminal
consequencesgeArriaga, 521 F.3dat 223,Mr. Khanhasprovided ngorecedentor applying
the doctrineso narrowlyto aspecificquestion oranadministrativdform. Seee.g, Kolender
461U.S.at 357 (notinghatthe voidfor-vaguenessloctrineappliesto statutes)Furthermore“it
is importantto underscore thiémited scope ofudicial inquiry into immigrationlegislation”
Fiallo v. Bell, 430U.S.787, 792 (1977)The SupremeCourt of theUnited Stateshas
“repeatedlyemphasizedhat over noconceivablesubjectis thelegislativepowerof Congress
morecompletethanit is over theadmissiorof [individuals].” Id. (internalcitationsomitted);see
Chan 464 F.3dat 290(citing INA § 310(a), 8J.S.C.8 1421(a)asdelegating sole authoritg

the naturalizationrdomainto the AttorneyGenera).

Indeed,recognizingthe scope of authorityrantedto Congress, the Supreme Court
rejecteda constitutionathallengeto the statutorylanguageof animmigrationstatuteeven
thoughit excludedthe relationshigbetweenanillegitimate child andhis naturalfatherfrom the
preferenceaccordedy theAct to the ‘child’ or ‘parent of a United Statescitizen or legal

permanentesident.”Fiallo, 430U.S.at 800.As aresult,it logically follows thatthe courtsare

14



evenmorelimited in their ability to find constitutionafault with a question oanUSCIS

administrativeform.

Accordingly, Mr. Khan’sFifth AmendmenDue Proces<lauseclaim, CountTwo, will

bedismissed.

B. The Administrative Procedure Act and Declaratory Judgment Act Claims

“A caseis properlydismissedor lack of subjectmatterjurisdictionunder Rule 12(b)(1)
whenthedistrict courtlacksthestatutoryor constitutional poweto adjudicateat.” Makarovav.
U.S, 201 F.3d 110, 113 (2dir. 2000).The AdministrativeProceduréict subjectscertainfinal
administrativeagencyactionsto judicial review.See5 U.S.C. § 704 (“Agencgctionmade
reviewableby statuteandfinal agencyactionfor whichthereis no other adequatemedyin a
courtaresubjectto judicial review.”). Theagencyactionis reviewableunder theAdministrative
ProcedureéAct if thereis no otheremedyavailableto theplaintiff. Seeid. The Declaratory
Judgmen#ct allowsfederalcourtsto “declaretherightsandotherlegalrelationsof any
interesteartyseekingsuchdeclarationwhether or noturtherrelief is or could be sought.” 28

U.S.C. § 2201(a).

DefendantarguethatgivenMr. Kharn's adequateemedyunderSection1421(c)for ade
novoreview, hisclaimsunder theAdministrativeProceduréAct andthe DeclaratoryJudgment
Act should badismissed.Gov't Mem. at 24.In anyevent,in Defendantsview, the Declaratory
Judgment At “doesnotexpandafederalcourt’ssubjectmatterjurisdiction” id. (citing Nike,
Inc. v. Already,LLC, 663 F.3d 89, 9%&d Cir. 2011);Kasicav. U.S.Dept.of HomelandSecurity
660F. Supp. 2d 277, 28@. Conn.Aug. 21, 2009)); nor dods “vestdistrict courtswith

jurisdictionto considematuralizatiorproceedingg id. at 25 (quotingSantamariav. Holder,
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2012WL 566073at*7 n.7(S.D.N.Y.Feb.21, 2012)).

In responseMr. Khanarguesthatthe ImmigrationandNaturalizationAct, 8 360(a), 8
U.S.C. § 1503(apllowsanindividualto bring aclaim for declarationof U.S. nationalityunder
the Declaratoy Judgment At, unless théssueof theapplicant’scitizenshiparose‘by reason
of,” “in connectionwith,” or “is in issue”in anyremovalproceedingPl.’s Opp.at 23 (quoting 8
U.S.C. § 1503(3) Mr. Khanthenargueghatreviewunder 8§ 1421(dps notexclusivewhenthere
areother viableclaimsaswell. Id. at 24.Mr. Khananalogizesis caseto Singhv. USCIS 2011
WL 1485368at*4 (N.D. Ill. Apr. 19, 2011)wherethe courtheldthatthe USCISdecisionto
terminatetheplaintiff's grant ofasylumwasa separat@ndfinal decisionthatcould bereviewed

in district court under the dministrativeProcedure At. Pl.’'s Opp.at 24.

The Court disgrees.

BecauseMir. KhanhasanalternativeadequateemedyunderSection1421(c),for de novo
review of USCIS’sdenial of hisnaturalizatiorapplication this morespecificstatutorygrant of
judicial reviewmakeshis AdministrativeProceduréict claim inappropriateSeeSharkew.
Quarantillo, 541 F.3d 75, 842d Cir. 2008) (notinghatthe Administratve Proceduréct does
not independently grasubjectmatterjurisdictionandthatits provisions cannot override other
morespecific“statutorylimitations onjudicial review of agencyaction”), see5 U.S.C. § 704
(“Agencyactionmadereviewableby statue andfinal agencyactionfor which thereis no other

adequateemedyin acourtaresubjectto judicial review.").

BecauseheDeclaratoryJudgmen#ct “doesnotitself enlargethejurisdiction of the
federalcourts,”BaezFernandez385F. Supp. 2d 292, 2965.D.N.Y.Jan.18, 2005)jt only

“authorizesrelief whichis consonantvith theexerciseof thejudicial functionin the
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determinatiorof controversieso which under theConstitutionthejudicial power extends.”
Aetnalife Ins. Co. of Hartford, Connv. Haworth 300U.S.227, 240 (1937)n otherwords,this
Courtis not authorizedo give declaratoryrelief in addition to andbeyondwhatthe specific
statutorygrantof jurisdictionallows,whichin this cases § 1421(c).SeeSkellyOil Co.v.
Phillips PetroleumCo, 339U.S.667, 671-72 (195Q)The DeclaratoryJudgmen#ct allow[s]
relief to begiven. . .But therequirenentsof jurisdiction— thelimited subjectmatterswhich
alone Congresisadauthorized the Btrict Courtsto adjudicate- werenotimpliedly repealecbr
modified.”); seealsoFiallo, 430U.S.at 793 (“[O]ver no conceivable subjeid thelegislative
power ofCongressnorecompletethanit is over theadmissiorof [individuals].”); WanShi
Hsiehv. Kiley, 569 F.2d 1179, 1181-82d Cir. 1978)(“The jurisdiction of federalcourtsto
reviewthelINS'’s actiori — the INS beingthepredecessao USCIS—“depend][s]on the
existenceof astautory authorization omandatdrom Congress,becauseheDeclaratory

Judgmen#Act is “remedial,notjurisdictional”).

To theextentthatMr. Khanseeksleclaratoryelief consistentvith his 8§ 1421(c) claim,
the Courtwill considetthatclaimfor relief whenit conductsle novareviewunder § 1421(c).
But thereis nolegalbasisfor anyof the purported Constitutionedlief soughtoy Mr. Khan
under theDeclaratoryJudgmen#hct, for thesamereasonsioted aboveavith respecto hisFifth

AmendmenDueProces<laim.

Accordingly,Mr. Khan’sclaimsfor relief underthe AdministrativeProcedureédct will be
dismissedandhis DeclaratoryJudgmen#ct claim, properlylimited to relief under § 1421(c),

remainsfor now.
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V. CONCLUSION

For theforegoingreasonsPefendantsmotionto dismissis GRANTED IN PART and

DENIED IN PART.

Mr. AzanKhan'sclaimsunder theFifth Amendmentindthe AdministrativeProcedures
Act aredismissed.His claim for de novareviewunder 8 U.S.C. 8§ 1421(aepdfor relief under

theDeclaratoryJudgmen#ct will proceed.
SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticuthis 315 day ofOctobey 2019.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden

VICTOR A. BOLDEN

UNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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